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The Child Exploitation and Obscenity Section (CEOS) is part

of the Criminal Division of the U.S. Department of Justice.

The Section prosecutes federal child sexual exploitation and

abuse, child pornography, and obscenity crimes, identifies major

offenders of the applicable statutes, and coordinates the

investigation of cases nationally. Its jurisdiction includes

crimes involving child sexual exploitation, child sexual abuse on

Federal lands (Indian Country, U.S. military installations, and

U.S. parks, prisons, and buildings), child pornography, child

prostitution, and interstate and foreign commerce and nailing of

obscene materials. In addition, the Section’s attorneys provide

substantial assistance to United States Attorneys around the

country in the prosecution and appeals of such cases.

The Section is also responsible for protection of the rights

of children under the child victim-witness provisions of the

federal criminal code and under the Child Support Recovery Act.
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1. CRTLD SEXUAL ABUSE

The Section actively pursues investigations and prosecution
initiatives in the area of child sexual abuse on Federal lands,
particularly in Indian Country. Initiatives are also ongoing
against interstate child prostitution.

Examples of Child Sexual Abuse Cases

o On April ~21, 1994, Benjamin Curley was convicted by jury in
the District of Arizona of aggravated sexual abuse, sexual
abuse on minors, and abusive sexual contact with minors,
involving crimes against 40 young boys on a Navajo
reservation. He was sentenced to serve 14 years in prison.

o On March 1, 1994, Michael Figueroa pled guilty in the
District of Montana to aggravated sexual abuse of an Indian
child and was sentenced to 18 months imprisonment.

O On January 10, 1994, Johnny F. Damon pled guilty in the
District of Montana to one count of aggravated sexual abuse
of a child in Indian Country and was sentenced to 88 months.

o On May 13, 1993, Frederick Yazzie was found guilty by a jury
in the District of Arizona at Prescott on all counts of
aggravated sexual abuse of a minor and abusive sexual
contact with a minor on an Indian reservation. His victim
was his stepson and the abuse spanned five years. He was
sentenced to 364 months in prison and fined $3,000.

O On April 12, 1993, Fred Shepherd pled guilty during his jury
trial in the District of Arizona to sexual abuse of a minor
and abusive sexual contact with a minor on an Indian
reservation. The victim was his stepdaughter. He was
sentenced to 33 months in prison.

0 On March 3, 1993, Dana DeCoteau pled guilty in the District
of South Dakota to aggravated sexual abuse of a minor on an
Indian reservation and sentenced to 140 months in prison.

o on December 20, 1991, Roberto Rosales, a school teacher on a
U.S. Military Base in Puerto Rico, was convicted in that
District of four counts of child sexual abuse.

o on December 11, 1991, Stuart Gia was convicted by a jury in
the District of Arizona in Phoenix of five counts of sexual
assault of a minor on an Indian reservation. This was the
first case tried under the CEOS’s new jurisdiction over
child sexual abuse on Federal lands.
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Examples of child Prostitution Cases

O On July 26, 1995, Michelle Coutermarsh and Eddie Lee
Anderson were convicted in Massachusetts of violations of
the Mann Act for their role in transporting minor girls for
the purpose of prostitution. A CEOS attorney provided
support services in this prosecution.

o On July 13, 1995, a superseding indictment was filed against
Talib Zayid a.k.a. Lewis Hopkins Jr. for knowingly
transporting a minor from Pennsylvania to Ohio with the
intent to engage in sexual activity. His trial is scheduled
for October 2, 1995. A CEOS attorney is providing
assistance with research and trial preparation.

o On April 13, 1995, Lamar Baker was indicted in the District
of Hawaii on several charges, including violations of the
Mann Act, for his involvement in conspiring to transport a
female minor for purposes of prostitution. On June 27,
1995, the defendant entered a guilty plea to all counts at
the close of the government’s case—in—chief. Sentencing is
scheduled for October 2, 1995.

o On July 25, 1994, Harold Dolloph pled guilty in the District
of New Hampshire to interstate transportation of minors for
sexual abuse and to possession of child pornography. He was
sentenced to serve 20 years in prison.

Child Sexual Abuse in Indian Country

Criminal jurisdiction over crimes committed in Indian
Country is vested in the United States, except where there has
been an express grant of jurisdiction to state governments.

Since receiving supervisory jurisdiction of Federal child
sex abuse cases in 1991, the Child Exploitation and Obscenity
Section has been particularly active in working with United
States Attorneys and federal investigative agencies to increase
the number of federal child sexual abuse cases prosecuted and to
ensure responsiveness to child victims. In addition to securing
several important child sexual abuse convictions, the Section has
provided a host of services to federal investigators and
prosecutors, including training, consultation, and litigation
support services.

CEOS has also taken the lead in coordinating with other
federal agencies having responsibility for providing services to
American Indian children residing in Indian Country or attending
federally operated schools.
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On September 20,1993, Attorney General Reno, in a public
message, declared that the Justice Department recognizes that the
investigation and prosecution of child sexual abuse in Indian
Country is a matter of highest importance, and that efforts to
improve the overall responsiveness of the Federal Government is
an issue to which she as Attorney General is deeply committed.

Activities and Accomplishments -- Iunerican Indian Initiatives

* the successful prosecution, in various federal districts, of
several child sex crimes cases (including multi—victim cases)

* providing guidance to USAOs on Federal pleading and practice;

* undertaking aggressive prosecution of child sex abuse on
Indian and other Federal lands;

* providing legal advice and research;

* serving as part of a Federal Working Group with the National
District Attorneys Association. Under a grant administered by
DOJ, the group’s purpose includes preparing a Federal
supplement to a state child sexual abuse prosecution manual;

* providing training and legal support services to Federal
prosecutors and law enforcement. CEOS helped coordinate the
first national training conference exclusively for Federal
child abuse prosecutors; CEOS has also helped train FBI, BIA
and other law enforcement in this area.

* successfully establishing on—going relationships with Federal,
Tribal, State and local agencies and organization to address
the issues associated with child sex crimes in the most
comprehensive manner possible. CEOS coordinated the first
national meeting in this area involving the above entities.

Other Activities

Since 1993, CEOS has prepared, coordinated, co—sponsored
and/or instructed at more than 25 conferences on the topic of
child sexual abuse. This training has been provided to both
federal and state prosecutors, law enforcement officers, and
child protection workers. A number of examples of the specific
conferences in which CEOS exercised a role are detailed below.

o On September 12, 1995, a CEOS attorney spoke at the Oklahoma
and Kansas Child Sexual Abuse conference in Tulsa, Oklahoma.
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O On August 24, 1995, a CEOS attorney spoke at the Four
Corners Regional conference in Durango, Colorado. The
conference was attended by tribal and federal
representatives from New Mexico, Arizona and Colorado.

0 On August 22 - 25, 1995, CEOS attorneys spoke at the 7th
Annual Crimes Against Children Seminar in Dallas, Texas.
The seminar was attended by federal and state law
enforcement officers, prosecutors, and child protective
service representatives. Youth prostitution, computer child
pornography and child exploitation legal updates were among
the topics discussed by CEOS attorneys.

O On May 2 - 4, 1995, CEOS attorneys spoke at the Third Annual
Coming Together for our Children Conference in Polson,
Montana which was attended by tribal, state and federal
representatives from Washington, Idaho, Montana,and Oregon.

O On April 17 — 21, 1995, May 1 — 5, 1995, and July 24 — 28,
1995, CEOS attorneys coordinated and instructed at the
Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) In—Service Training on child
sexual abuse for BIA criminal investigators at the site of
the Federal Law Enforcement Training Center and the Indian
Police Academy in Artesia, New 1’lexico. Over 90 criminal
investigators participated in this in-service training.

O On February 28 - March 4, 1995, CEOS attorneys were once
again faculty instructors at the (Eleventh) National
Symposium on Child Sexual Abuse in Huntsville, Alabama.

O On January 18 — 19, 1995, CEOS attorneys attended and spoke
at the Native American Issues Subcommittee’s Special
Assistants Conference in Washington, D.C., for federal
prosecutors assigned to cases occurring in Indian Country.

o on May 10—13, 1994, CEOS attorneys attended and spoke to the
Fifth National Conference on Strengthening Indian Nations:
Justice for Victims of Crimes in Albuquerque, New Nexico,
which brought together federal, state, and tribal law
enforcement, judges, prosecutors and service providers to
improve skills required for building effective victim
services throughout the communities within Indian Country.

0 On February 22 — 25, 1994, CEOS attorneys were again faculty
instructors at the (Tenth) National Symposium on Child
Sexual Abuse in Huntsville, Alabama, the largest training
program for investigators, prosecutors, social workers,
court personnel, and victim—witness coordinators involved
with child sex crime cases.
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o On September 21—24, 1993, ~EOS and the Indian Affairs
Subcommittee of the Attorney General’s Advisory Committee
sponsored a national conference called Enhancing the Federal
1~esponse to Child Victims of Sexual Abuse in Indian Country
in Seattle, Washington, to coordinate and provide training
to federal agencies with responsibilities for the
investigation and prosecution of child sexual abuse in
Indian Country.

o On June 8 — 11, 1993, CEOS conducted a child sexual abuse
and child pornography training seminar for Assistant U.S.
Attorneys from across the country. The conference in
Arlington, Virginia was sponsored by CEOS, the Office for
Victims of Crime, Office of Legal Education, Office of
Professional Development and Training, and the Executive
Office for United States Attorneys. Attorney General Janet
Reno personally addressed the conferees on June 10,
providing her encouragement- and continued support.

2. CHILD PORNOGRAPHYA}ID SEXUAL EXPLOITATION

Since the Section’s inception in 1987, it has directed a
substantial amount of its resources to the prosecution of child
pornography, and more recently, with the reassignment of
supervisory responsibilities, child sexual abuse. Working with
the United States Postal Inspection Service, the CEOS (then kno;cn
as the National Obscenity Enforcement Unit or NOEU) coordinated
and helped to construct a highly successful undercover effort to
identify and prosecute child pornography users. The project,
called Project Looking Glass, resulted in approximately 170
convictions for child pornography related crimes and involved the
execution of over 200 search warrants over a three day period in
1987. Of perhaps greatest importance was the discovery, in 35
cases, of ongoing or recent child sexual abuse in addition to
using the mails to traffic in child pornography. Since the
initiation of this prosecutive effort the Section has continued
to prosecute, coordinate, and provide legal advice in hundreds of
the over twenty—two hundred investigations the Postal Inspection
Service has conducted.

The Section has also effectively worked with the United
States Customs Service which has aggressively investigated the
importation of child pornography from Europe and Asia. From 1987
through 1989 the United States Customs Service conducted an
undercover investigative program called Operation Borderline.
This highly successful program utilized a foreign front
corporation which served to identify Americans who sought to
import child pornography. This effort was supported by the
Section which provided legal advice in organizing it and directly
assisted the prosecution of numerous cases. Over two hundred
searches were executed in thirty—three states resulting in
eighty—one indictments. The Section continues to work closely
with the Customs Service in these and other cases.
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Coordinated efforts between the investigative services
represents a considerable portion of the Section’s efforts and
are of extreme importance due to the rapidly developing and
changing law in this area.

Operation Long Arm

Operation Long Arm, coordinated by the Child Exploitation
and Obscenity ~Section, is a national and international
investigative and prosecutive program to combat the use of
computers and computer bulletin board services to traffic in
child pornography. This program is the first of its kind to
specifically target the illegal importation, distribution, sale,
and possession of computer generated child pornography. On March
4, 1993, after a year long investigation into the importation by
computer of child pornography in the United States, 40 search
warrants in 15 states and 30 cities-were executed by some 300
federairstate, and local law enforcement officials. Indictments
have been returned in a number of cases. The first conviction
was in U.S. v. Kimbrough in the Northern District of Texas in
July, 1993. The second conviction was in U.S. v. Lacy in the
Western District of Washington in August, 1995.

Project Innocent Images

Innocent Images, coordinated by the Child Exploitation and
Obscenity Section, is the second national investigative and
prosecutive program to combat the use of computers to traffic in
child pornography. On September 13, 1995, as a result of a two-
year investigation into the use by subscribers of America Online
to distribute child pornography and to locate children for sex~,
the Federal Bureau of Investigation searched approximately 125
homes and offices in 57 of the Nation’s federal districts.

Examples of Child Pornography Cases

o On May 11, 1995, Scott Douglas Lacy was indicted in the
Western District of Washington in Seattle for possession and
receipt of child pornography. On August 1, 1995, he was
convicted by a jury of possession of child pornography.
Sentencing is scheduled for November 14, 1995.

0 On March 2, 1995, Joseph Piekanski and Charmaine Raymond
were indicted in the District of Hawaii for violations
involving the interstate transportation of obscene matter
and importation of child pornography.

o On February 24, 1995, Donald Harvey pleaded guilty to -

possession of computer child pornography and interstate
shipment of child pornography. He is scheduled to be
sentenced on July 24, 1995.
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0 On August 25, 1994, paul Shunkwiler was convicted by a jury
in the Northern District of Iowa of possessing child
pornography and distributing a controlled substance to
minors. He was sentenced to 9 years in prison, a $5,000
fine, and forfeiture of his home, van, and 20 acre kennel.

0 On August 17, 1994, John Hatney was convicted by a jury in
the Southern District of Georgia of one count of receiving
child pornography under § 2252(a) (2) and one count of
possessing child pornography under § 2252 (a) (4) (B). He was
sentenced to concurrent 60 month terms of imprisonment. An
appeal, which is being handled by CEOS, is pending in the
Elevepth Circuit Court of Appeals.

0 On July 25, 1994, Harold Dolloph pled guilty to possession
of child pornography in the District of New Hampshire, and
to Child Mann Act violations for transporting minors across
state lines for sexual abuse and filming child pornography.
He was sentenced on December 19, 1994, to serve 20 years.

0 On February 17, 1994, John R. Matthews, Jr. was indicted in
the District of Arizona at Phoenix on two counts of
interstate transportation of child pornography. He entered
a guilty plea on May 4, 1995 and is awaiting sentencing.

0 On February 11, 1994, Stephen Rioux pled guilty in the
District of Connecticut to possessing and distributing child
pornography and agreed to the forfeiture allegations. He
was sentenced to concurrent 15 month sentences on each count
to be followed by 3 years supervised release.

0 On January 21, 1994, James R. Clark was sentenced in the
Northern District of Florida on a guilty plea of
distributing child pornography via computer. The defendant
received six months incarceration, three years probation,
and must receive psychiatric counselling.

0 On January 19, 1994, Dennis E. Jordan, a commercial mail
order distributor of pornography, pled guilty in Des Moines,
Iowa, to distribution of child pornography through the U.S.
Mail. Jordan cooperated in allowing his company, “Loopers”,
to be used for a law enforcement undercover investigation,
which resulted in 47 other child pornography cases. One
resulting conviction was affirmed with a ruling that 18
U.S.C. § 2252 contains a valid scienter element, U.S. V.

Burthx~, 19 F.3d 188 (5th Cir. 1994).

o On October 13, 1993, Terry B. Kimbrough was convicted by a
jury in the Northern District of Texas on two counts of
possession of child pornography and two counts of
importation of child pornography by computer. The defeudant
was sentenced in this Operation Long Arm case to serve 72
months in prison. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals heard
oral arguments on April 4, 1995 and their ruling is awaited.
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o On September 9, 1993, Paul Mjolsnes-Nelson pled guilty in -

the District of Minnesota to possession of computer
transmitted child pornography. He was sentenced to three
years probation, 90 days house arrest and fines.

0 On April 8, 1993, Michael Lester pleaded guilty to child
pornography charges in the District of Colorado and was
fined $10,000 and sentenced to 30 months incarceration.

O On March~24, 1993, Ernest Schmeltzer pleaded guilty to child
pornography charges in the Western District of Texas at
Midland—Odessa and was sentenced to the statutory maximum of
60 mqnths incarceration.

0 In December of 1992, Tomas Renterio—Moreno was sentenced in
the District of Arizona on a guilty plea to an immigration
charge, entered during a jury trial, and the District Court
departed upward to impose more severe jail time. The
defendant had brought a 14 year old girl with him from
Mexico to Arizona.

o On October 9, 1992, a jury in the District of New Hampshire
at Concord returned guilty verdicts on all counts of
mailing, shipping, and possession of child pornography
against Larry Lane Bateman of Exeter, New Hampshire.
Sateman, the head of the Drama Dept. at Phillips Exeter
Academy, was investigated by U.S. Postal Inspectors and
Exeter and Keene Police detectives after being contacted by
a former student. This was the first federal jury trial
which included charges of possession of child pornography
under Congress’s 1990 amendment to 18 u.s.c. § 2252(a) (4),
see U.S. v. Bateman, 805 F.Supp. 1053 (D.N.H. 1992).
Bateman was sentenced January 11, 1993, to 60 months
imprisonment and forfeited his audio-visual and photographic
equipment and hundreds of films and picture books.

o In October of 1992, the conviction of Stephen Knox was
affirmed by the Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit in
U.S. v. Knox, 977 F.2d 815 (3d Cir. 1992). Knox was found
guilty by the District Court for the Middle District of
Pennsylvania of knowingly receiving child pornography by
mail. The Appeals Court affirmed the application of 18
U.S.C. § 2252 to the pictures of young children in panties,
etc., which were marketed as depicting lascivious
exhibitions of the genitals. The Supreme Court granted
certiorari review in 1993 and remanded the case to the Court
of Appeals for further argument. On June 9, 1994, the Third
Circuit re—affirmed the conviction and its prior opinion
that § 2252 applies to child pornography containing
lascivious exhibitions of clothed genital areas, see U.S. V.
Knox, 32 F.3d 733 (3d Cir. 1994). On November 10, 1994,



10

Attorney General Janet Reno filed a brief in the Supreme
Court urging that further review be denied and-the
conviction upheld. The Supreme Court declined to further
review the case and denied certiorari on January 17, 1995.

0 On July 23, 1992, Paul Davies, a Lieutenant in the Miami
Fire Department, was convicted by a jury in the Southern
District of Florida at Miami of federal charges of receiving
child pornography through the mails. He was sentenced to
eight months confinement.

- 0 On December 5, 1991, Donald Marcus was indicted in the
Eastern District of New York at Brooklyn on 87 counts of
intei±state and international transportation of child
pornography, child exploitation, and conspiracy. Donald
Marcus is a fugitive, believed to be hiding in Europe and/or
America, who was featured on the July 9, 1993, broadcast of
“America’s Most Wanted”. In 1993, a jury returned an
adqffittal in favor of Marcus’s attorney, Lawrence Stanley,
who was charged in three counts of the indictment.

0 On November 4, 1991, William Fl. Ray pleaded guilty in the
Eastern District of Kentucky at Lexington to possession and
commercial distribution of child pornography. He received
13 months confinement, 2 years probation, and forfeited his
inventory and equipment.

0 In August of 1991, three defendants pleaded guilty in the
District of New Hampshire to child pornography and obscenity
charges, in what was the largest combination child
pornography & adult obscenity case of its kind in the Ne.-;
England region in the last decade. The FBI and the U.S.
Postal Inspection Service conducted five searches in four
New England states, uncovering evidence of both the New
England pornography enterprise and of sources of child
pornography and obscenity production nationwide.

0 On November 9, 1990, Dr. Milan Chepko (a.k.a. Marvin Chezki)
was convicted in the Southern District of Mississippi or.
charges of child pornography. He received 13 months
confinement and 3 years probation.

o On July 12, 1990, Dr. Donald Raymond Salata was convicted in
the Western District of Missouri on charges of child
pornography. He received 13 months confinement.

O In 1989, CEOS attorneys obtained a conviction in the Central
District of California against X-Citement Video, Inc., and
Rubin Gottesman for violating § 2252 by shipping child
pornography films featuring Traci Lords as a minor. The
Ninth Circuit reversed, holding § 2252 invalid as lacki.n; a
scienter element that a defendant have knowledge of the
minority of the performers, see U.S. v. X—Citement Vide:
Inc., 982 F.2d 1285 (9th Cir. 1992), but on ~Tovemher 29,
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1994, the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and
upheld § 2252 as valid and as including a proper scienter
element that requires knowledge of both the sexual character
of the material and the minority of the children depicted.

3. OBSCENITY

Since the Section’s inception in 1987, it has obtained at
least 126 obscenity individual and corporate convictions

- involving more that $24 million awarded in fines and forfeitures
of assets to the Government. (This figure does not include a
value for the numerous pornography businesses and stores, or
their invehtories of hard—core materials, which have been
forfeited to the Government.)

Examples of obscenity Cases

1995 —— On August 29, 1995, Kenneth Guarino, Salvatore Richici,
William Haimowitz, a.k.a. Willie Bittner, and Northstar
Distributors of Rhode Island were indicted in the District of
Nevada for the interstate transportation of obscene material in
violation of § 1462.

1995 —— On June 28, 1995, Jerome Edward Garfinkel and Leonard
Weinstein, the president and sales manager, respectively, of
A.F.V. Releasing, Inc., formerly Arrow Film and Video, Inc.,
entered guilty pleas in the District Court of Nevada to the
interstate transportation of obscene material. Sentencing of the
defendants is pending.

1995 —— On June 28, 1995, Anthony Peraino, Louis Peraino, Joseph
Peraino, Arrow Film & Video, Inc., and Video Dubs, Inc. were
charged in a superseding indictment to the original indictment of
December 21, 1994, in the District of Nevada at Las Vegas for
obscenity based RICO offenses and for the interstate
transportation of obscene materials. Anthony Peraino and his son
Louis were convicted in the Memphis “Deep Throat” trials. Louis
and his brother Joseph were convicted in the “MIPORN” cases in
Miami and served time for violating their probation by engaging
in the pornography business.

1995 —— On June 23, 1995, Mary Jane Jenkins a.k.a. Linda Ivey,
Peter Pigman, and David Stubbs entered guilty pleas in the
Southern District of Texas. Stubbs was an employee of Reuben
Sturman, a notorious pornography distributor. Jenkins and Pigman
were associates of Sturman’s and received most of the product
used in Jenkins’ businesses from him. The defendants each
entered a guilty plea to one count of interstate transportation
of obscene material in violation of § 1461. Pursuant to the
negotiation, Jenkins and others agreed to close all of their
businesses in the State of Texas,- forfeit $500,000 worth of
assets and refrain from conducting business in the State of
Texas. Jenkins’ former attorneys, Charles Boyle and Robert Smith
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were sentenced on July 7, 1995 to 18 and 21 months incarceration
respectively for their role in conspiring to obstruct justice and
to defraud the United States for the purpose of concealing the
identity of Jenkins as the stores’ true owners.

1994 —— Randall Madden was indicted in the District of Alaska for
violating §S 1461 and 1462 by mailing and shipping obscenity
featuring minors engaged in sexual conduct. He pled guilty and
was sentenced to 60 months probation.

.1994 —— On July 28, 1994, Robert and Carleen Thomas were
convicted by a jury in the Western District of Tennessee of six
counts of ~io1ating § 1465 by using a facility of interstate
commerce, phone lines by computer modem, for the interstate
transportation of obscene Graphic Interchange Format (GIF)
photographs over their computer bulletin board system (“Amateur
Action BBS”) and of transporting obscene videos by common carrier
(UPS) in violation of § 1462 and conspiracy under § 371. In this
first federal case for selling obscenity by computef RBS, the
Court ordered the forfeiture of the entire BBS under § 1467 and
sentenced Robert Thomas to 37 months and Carleen Thomas to 30
months, each term to be followed by two years supervised release.

1994 —— On May 9, 1994, Cinderella Distributors, Inc. and
defendant-operators Charles Brickman and William Stolbach each
pled guilty in the Northern District of Florida to interstate
shipment of obscenity under § 1462. Sentencing was transferred
to the central District of California under Criminal Rule 20.

1994 —— On March 14, 1994, Richard Fowler pled guilty in the
District of New Hampshire to five counts of mailing obscene
materials in violation of § 1461 and was sentenced to $1000 fine
and five years probation, with conditional mental health
treatment. Defendant himself appeared in an excretory film and
mailed other films depicting bestiality and violence.

1994 —— Indictment returned on January 4, 1994, in the Western
District of Kentucky, charging Mark Carriere and Leisure Time
Products, Inc. (Multi—Media Dist. Co.) with mailing obscene
material. On April 3, 1995, the defendants pleaded guilty to
transporting and shipping obscene video tapes and magazines. The
plea agreement follows the November, 1994 trial which ended in a
hung jury. The corporation faces a maximum fine of $2,000,000.

1994 —- Severio Latin, d/bfa AJS Merchandising, pled guilty tc
interstate transportation of obscene material in violation of
§ 1465 and to tax offenses in the Western District of New York
and closed and forfeited the real and personal property of his
hard—core pornography store, Good Time Charlie’s, and was ordered
to pay $250,000 in tax liabilities to the IRS.
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1993 —— PHE, Inc., d/b/a/ Adam & Eve, its president—owner Phili~
Harvey and other officers pled guilty to the mailing of 1a
sexually oriented advertisement on December 6, 1993, in the
Middle District of Alabama.

1992 —— Phillip J. Erasner of Allentown, along with four
associates and several corporations, were indicted in the Middle
District of Pennsylvania for distribution of obscene materials
through the mail, conspiracy, and money laundering. In July
1993, the District Court issued an opinion upholding the
application of the money laundering statute to obscenity
offenses. On November 9, 1993, guilty pleas to five counts of
money lauiidering were entered by three corporations, Pure Images,
Stage III, and Graphics Distributors, and over $1,000,000 in
property was forfeited, including two stores. Krasner and the
four corporate officers also pled guilty to violations of
Pennsylvania’s obscenity statute in Dauphin County Court.

1992 —— Willie Bittner, Donald Embinder, Jon Bittner, Manuel
Gonzales, and Grand International Communications, Inc.
(publishers of Jock Magazine) of Pensacola, Florida, pled to
obscenity counts in the Northern District of Florida. Willie
Bittner received 21 months, Embinder received 13 months, and Jon
Bittner and Gonzales received home detention and probation.

1992 ——
1JCA Labs, Inc. of Chatsworth, California, and its

president, Russell Hampshire, pleaded guilty to obscenity charges
in the Middle District of Alabama. Hampshire received one year
imprisonment and the corporation forfeited $2 million and all
copies of the obscene videotapes.

1992 —— Michael Cunningham (dfb/a Bob’s Farout) , a Los Angeles—
based independent mail—order distributor of obscene material,
pled guilty in the Central District of California to mailing
obscene material and sexually oriented advertisements. He was
sentenced to 4 months confinement, a $3,000 fine and closed his
business.

1991 — 1992 -— Reuben Sturman, Ralph Levine, Alan Berke, and
Edward Snyder pleaded guilty to obscenity based RICO charges in
the District of Nevada at Las Vegas. Sturman was sentenced to
four years and fined a million dollars. Levine and Berke
received one year and fines of $250,000 and $150,000,
respectively. Snyder received 6 months and $10,000. Stanley
Loeb pled to obscenity charges and received probation and
$10,000. The twelve hard—core pornography stores in this
enterprise, in Las Vegas, Reno, and San Francisco, were closed
and forfeited to the Government, along with a building and real
estate in each of the three cities.
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1991 —- General Video Midwest; Inc. pleaded guilty to obscenity -

charges in the Northern District of Florida and was sentenced to
three years probation and fined $75,000. An owner, Roy May, and
the corporation forfeited $250,000 under the money laundering
statute.

1991 —— Mark Horodner and Tom Sinopoli of Video Entertainment
Productions pleaded guilty in the Central District of California
at Los Angeles to bank fraud charges arising out of an obscenity
investigation. Horodner was sentenced to 18 months incarceration
and Sinopoli was sentenced to 36 months probation and fined
$1,000.

1990 —— Ho~meDish Only Satellite Network, Inc. (“HDO”) pleaded
guilty in the Western District of New York and in the District of
Utah in the first prosecutions under a new statute prohibiting
the broadcast of obscenity via satellite. “HDO”, the only
nationwide satellite system broadcasting hard—core movies, ceased
broadcasting, agreed to stop its involvement in the distribution
of pornography, forfeited its obscene video films, and paid
$150,000 in fines.

1990 —- PHE, Inc. (d/b/a Adam & Eve) , its president, Philip
Harvey, and its supervisory employees, were indicted on obscenity
charges in the Dis€f~ict of Utah.

1990 —— AJS Merchandising Inc. (d/b/a Good Time Charlie’s), and
its owners Severio T. Latin and Frances Latin were indicted in
the Western District of New York at Buffalo for interstate
shipments of obscenity. An associate, Brian Laraby, pleaded
guilty to obscenity charges and failure to file a tax return in
January, 1991.

1990 —- Ferris Alexander, who monopolized the illegal pornography
industry in Minnesota, was convicted by a jury in the District of
Minnesota at Minneapolis on obscenity, RICO, tax, and social
security charges. In addition to a six year prison sentence, the
District Court ordered forfeiture of Alexander’s ownership
interest in 14 hard—core pornography stores, his warehouse,
business real estate, equipment, and bank accounts. Fines and
forfeitures totalled over $11 million. The conviction and
forfeitures were affirmed by the Court of Appeals (8th Circuit)
and the Supreme Court, in U.S. v. Alexander, 113 S.Ct. 2766
(1993), upheld the application of the RICO and obscenity statutes

to Alexander and remanded the case only to determine whether the
penalties satisfy the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth
Amendment in this case.

1989 —— Orchid International, Inc., an importer of Japanese
bondage films, pleaded guilty to obscenity charges in the Central
District of California at Los Angeles. It was fined $10,000, and
subsequently went out of business.
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1989 —— Rubin Gottesman was convicted in the Central District ot
California at Los Angeles of distribution of child-pornography
involving Traci Lords films. He was sentenced to one year
imprisonment. Co—defendantsSteven Orenstein and Excitement
Video pleaded guilty in October 1988 to RICO and Obscenity counts
arising out of the same investigation. On appeal, the Court of
Appeals for the Ninth Circuit issued an opinion, U.S. v. X—
Citement Video, Inc. and Rubin Gottesman, 982 F.2d 1285 (9th Cir.
1992), declaring the entire child pornography statute, 18 U.S.C.
§ 2252, invalid for failing to specifically include the scienter
requirement the Government argued was included by interpretation
into the statute and proven at trial as guilty knowledge by
defendants of the performer’s minority. The Ninth Circuit denied
rehearing in 1993 and the Supreme Court granted the Government’s
petition for a writ of certiorari in 1994. On November 29, 1994,
the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and upheld the
constitutionality of § 2252.

1988 —— Stephanie Martin and Womero, Inc. pleaded to db~cenity
charges in the District of Hawaii. Martin was sentenced to two
years incarceration (with all but four months suspended) and 200
hours community service work.

1988 —— Andre D’Apice and Video Home Library, Inc. pleaded guilty
to obscenity charges in the District of Hawaii. D’Apice received
36 months of confinement. (He had previously been convicted in
“MIPORN” in the Southern District of Florida, an undercover FBI
operation resulting in the indictment of over 50 of the nation’s
largest pornographers and organized crime associates.)

1988 —— Automatic Enterprises, Inc. was convicted on its guilty
plea to obscenity based RICO charges in Washington, D.C. (D.
D.C.), and ceased operation of two stores in the District.
(Defendant Donald Epstein predeceased the trial date.)

1987 —— Dennis Pryba, Barbara Pryba, Jennifer Williams, and
Educational Books, Inc. were convicted by a jury of obscenity
based RICO charges in the Eastern District of Virginia at
Alexandria. This case was the first obscenity based RICO
conviction under the 1984 amendment to 18 U.S.C. § 1961 making
obscenity a predicate offense to racketeering. Defendants’
interests in the business assets in warehouse and 12 stores were
forfeited, valued at more than $1 million. The convictions and
forfeiture orders were affirmed by the Court of Appeals, U.S. v.
Pryba, 900 F.2d 748 (4th Cir. 1990) , and the Supreme Court denied
review, 498 U.S. 924 (1990)
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Los Angeles Project

The investigation into the Los Angeles—based producers and
national distributors of hard—core videos and magazines has
resulted in 37 searches by the Federal Bureau of Investigation
and the Los Angeles Police Department showing a supply network
from coast to coast which involves most of the country’s
pornography stores. rhus far, the investigation has led to
twenty convictions. The cases include:

o On December 2, 1993, in the Eastern District of Kentucky,
Executive Video, Inc. pled guilty to obscenity charges. On
January 29, 1993, the co-defendant, Fred Hirsch, pled to a
state obscenity charge. The Indictment was returned on
November 12, 1992, with interstate shipments of obscene
materials.

o Indictment returned on May 5, 1993, in the Western District
of Kentucky at Louisville, charging Caballero Control Corp.,
Alan Bloom, Howard Klein, Terry Schneider, and several other
corporations with interstate shipments of obscene materials.
On November 15, 1993, Roadrunner Video, Inc., pled guilty to
federal obscenity charges. Pursuant to the plea agreement,
Roadrunner video will forfeit $30,000 to the U.S., donate
$30,00 to a charity, subject to the approval of the U.S.
Attorney for the Western District of Kentucky.

o Indictment returned on February 4, 1993, in the Central
District of California at Los Angeles, charging World wide
Video, Inc. , World Wide Video of Washington, Inc. , and James
Raymond Sicilia with interstate shipment of obscene
material. In July and August of 1993, both corporate
defendants entered guilty pleas in C.D. Cal. World Wide
Video of Washington, Inc. will also enter guilty plea in. the
Eastern District of Washington at Yakima, and further guilty
pleas will be entered by defendant Sicilia in California
courts. The defendants were fined $25,000 in each district
in addition to 3 years probation and closed and forfeited 2
pornography stores.

O A jury returned guilty verdicts in November, 1992, in the
Western District of New York at Buffalo against Las Vegas
Video, Inc. and its owner, Martin Feig, for interstate
shipments of obscene material. Feig was sentenced to 4
months confinement, 3 years probation, and fined $2,000.
The convictions were summarily affirmed by the Court of
Appeals for the Second Circuit in 1993.

0 On April 2, 1992, Multi—Media Distribution Company, Inc., of
Los Angeles, California, and Merriliville, Indiana, and :zs
president, Mark Carriere, pleaded guilty in the Northerr
District of Florida at Tallahassee to federal obscenity
charges and forfeited $3.5 million in cash to the
Government. It is the largest monetary forfeiture .purs.ianc
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to an obscenity plea in the history of the United States, as
well as the largest single forfeiture stemming from a -

criminal investigation in the Northern District of Florida.
One million dollars from this forfeiture was presented to
the Los Angeles Police Department as equity sharing for
utilization in reducing gang warfare and related crimes. On
September 10, 1992, Multi-Media company was placed on one
year probation and fined an additional $500,000. Mark
Carriere was sentenced on September 18, 1992, pursuant to
Rule 20, in the Central District of California.

o On March 2, 1992, in the Northern District of Mississippi,
Vivid Video, Inc. and Vivid Video Direct, Inc. pleaded
guilty to federal obscenity charges, forfeited $500,000 to
the Government, and terminated any further involvement in
the business of sexually explicit materials in Mississippi.

o On February 11, 1992, in the District of Arizona at Phoeftix,
Bon—Vue Enterprises, Inc., and its owners, Robert Best and
Diane Ruth Best, pleaded guilty to federal obscenity
charges. Robert Best received 6 months imprisonment and a
$10,000 fine; Bon—Vue Enterprises was fined $100,000.

o On January 14, 1992, in the Northern District of Oklahoma at
Tulsa, two Los Angeles—based companies, Cal Vista Video,
Ltd. and Cal Vista Direct, Ltd., and the corporations’
president, Sidney Niekerk, and vice-president, Jack
Gallagher, pleaded guilty to federal obscenity charges.
The corporations were fined $100,000, forfeited their entire
inventories, and terminated any further involvement in the
business of sexually explicit materials.

O In July of 1991, three California corporations, CPLC, Inc.,
Video Team, and Investment Enterprises, their two owners,
Michael Warner and Donald Browning, and an employee, Susan
Colvin, were convicted in the Northern District of Texas at
Dallas of conspiracy and interstate transportation of
obscene material. CPLC and Video Team were each fined
$60,000 and Investment Enterprises fined $30,000; Browning
was sentenced to 12 months confinement, two years probation,
and fined $30,000; Warner was sentenced to four months
confinement, two years probation, and fined $20,000; Colvin
was given two years probation and fined $15,000. In
addition, the jury reached a separate verdict finding over
$10 million worth of business assets subject to forfeiture
to the Government. District Judge Sanders then issued an
opinion that none of the properties would be forfeited under
Section 1467. On Government appeal, the Court of Appeals
interpreted 18 U.S.C. § 1467 and reversed the order denying
forfeiture in U.S. v. Investment Enterprises, Inc., 10 F.3d
263 (5th Cir. 1993)
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0 Indictment returned on February 20, 1990, in the District ot
Nevada at Las Vegas charging Equs Corp. and its owners,
Judith and Elliot Levinson, with interstate shipments of
obscene materials. The District Court granted a motion to
suppress evidence from the search warrant but, on Government
appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed in U.S. v. Levinson,
991 F.2d 508 (9th Cir. 1993). On October 1, 1993, Equs
entered pleas of guilty to conspiracy and two counts of
interstate distribution of obscene materials. The
corporation was fined $30,000 and the owners pled to a two
count information in state court charging them with sale and
distribution of obscene materials. The Levinsons will, as
part of their probation in state court, contribute $5,000 to
a child sexual abuse program in Las Vegas.

Project Postporn

Under Project Postporn, the Department of Justice and the
Postal Inspection Service prosecuted the mail—order end ó~T the
obscenity industry. This project resulted in 50 individual or
corporate convictions in 24 cases in 20 federal districts. Most
of the mail—order obscenity companies prosecuted as a result of
this investigation project ceased distributing obscenity.

Since the completion of Project Postporn, other mail—order
distributors of obscene materials are being investigated and
prosecuted, with several cases pending in the federai courts.
The 24 “Postporn” cases resulting in convictions are as follows:

o LeJay Winkler (Universal Corp.) was convicted in the
District of Utah and sentenced to 18 months and fined
$50,000. Universal subsequently went out of business.

o LeJay Winkler (Universal Corp.) was convicted in the
Northern District of Iowa and sentenced to 6 months (to run
concurrently with the D. Utah sentence) and fined $35,000.

o David Lynn Coolidge (Universal Corp) was convicted in the
Northern District of Florida and sentenced to 18 months and
fined $5,000.

O Consumers Marketing Group, Ltd. (d/b/a Private Showcase) .~as
convicted in Utah and fined $600,000. The company was
dissolved, terminating any further involvement in the
business of sexually explicit materials, and its inventory
was forfeited to the Government.

O Consumers Marketing Group, Ltd. (d/b/a Private Showcase) ~:as
convicted in the Northern District of Mississippi. (See
D. Utah sentence above.)

0 Consumers Marketing Group, Ltd. (dfb/a Private Showcase; .~as
convicted in Delaware. (See D. Utah sentence above.)
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o Mailmart, Inc. was convicted in the Eastern District of
Virginia and fined $150,000. The company was dissolved,
terminating any further involvement in the business of
sexually explicit materials, and its inventory was forfeited
to the Government.

o Mailmart, Inc. was convicted in the Western District of
Texas. (See E.D. Virginia sentence above.)

o Mailmart, Inc. was convicted in the Southern District of
Illinois. (See E.D. Virginia sentence above.)

O Panavue, Inc. was convicted in the Eastern District of North
Carolina and was fined $80,000. The company was dissolved,
terminating any further involvement in the business of
sexually explicit materials, and its inventory was forfeited
to the Government.

o Package Fulfillment Center, Inc. (d/b/a Venus; Enquiry
Printing & Publishing, Inc.; ILK. Video Reproduction, Inc.)
was convicted in the Western District of Tennessee at
Memphis and fined $460,000.

o Package Fulfillment Center, Inc. (d/b/a Venus; Enquiry
Printing & Publishing, Inc.; H.K. video Reproduction, Inc.)
was also convicted in the Middle District of Pennsylvania.

0 Myron Shapiro and his two corporations, Venus Distributors,
Inc. and Instant Action, Inc., were convicted by a jury in
the Middle District of Pennsylvania. Shapiro is a fugitive
from justice and his sentencing is pending.

0 Karl Brussel, president of the nation!s then-largest mail—
order obscenity business, PAK Ventures, Inc., and his son
Matthew Brussel pleaded guilty in the Eastern District of
Virginia. Karl was sentenced to one year confinement and
$900,000 in fines were assessed. Subsequently, the
defendants closed their business and became fugitives from
justice. Through investigative efforts, they were located
in Canada and deportation proceedings were instituted.
Canadian Immigration issued a departure order, which is
stayed pending defendants’ application for refugee status.

0 Karl Brussel and Matthew Brussel (PAK Ventures, Inc.) also
pleaded guilty in the Eastern District of North Carolina.
(See E.D. Virginia sentence above.)

0 Karl Brussel and Matthew Brussel (PAK Ventures, Inc.) also
pleaded guilty in the Middle District of Alabama.
(See E.D. Virginia sentence above.)

o Karl Brussel and Matthew Brussel (PAK Ventures, Inc.) also
pleaded guilty in the Southern District of Alabama.
(See E.D. Virginia sentence above.)
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o Richard Nathan was convicted in the Western District of New
York. His corporation, TAO, was fined $10,000 and
terminated any further involvement in the business of
sexually explicit materials in New York.

o Steven Toushin, Sean O’Conner, Randy Larson, and
Entertainment & lunusement, Inc. (d/b/a Bijou Theatre; Slave
& Master Video) were convicted in the Middle District of
Tennesseeon mid—trial pleas. They were fined $3 million,
with all but $250,000 suspended. The individuals received
three years probation, with conditions that no sexually
explicit advertisements or materials are to be mailed in or
into Utah or Tennessee and their inventory be purged of all
sado~masochistic material.

o Steven Toushin and Entertainment & Amusement, Inc. (d/b/a
Bijou Theatre; Slave & Master Video) were convicted in the
District of Utah, with sentencing transferred under Rule 20
to the Middle District of Tennessee (see above)

o Robert Easley (Diverse Industries, Inc.) pled guilty in the
Eastern District of Washington and was given a six months
suspended sentence, three years probation, and fined
$100,000.

0 Robert Easley and Jacquelyn Hunter (Diverse Industries,
Inc.) were convicted by a jury in the District of Minnesota
at Duluth. The corporation was fined $592,000 and Robert
Easley received 12 months confinement. The Court of Appeals
affirmed the convictions, U.S. v. Easley, 927 F.2d 1442 (8th
Cir. 1991)

0 Robert Easley, Jacquelyn Hunter, and Diverse Industries,
Inc. were convicted by a jury in the Western District of
Kentucky at Louisville. Easley received 10 months
confinement and Diverse Industries was fined $10,000.
Easley appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed, U.S. v.
Easley, 942 F.2d 405 (6th Cir. 1991)

o David Treatman, his son Gary Treatman, and their
corporation, Erik Imports, pleaded guilty to obscenity
charges in the Northern District of Alabama. David Treatman
received 10 months confinement and was fined $10,000; Gary
Treatman received 4 months confinement and a $10,000 fine;
the corporation was fined $55,000 and required to forfeit
$70,000; and the defendants terminated any further
involvement in the business of sexually explicit materials.
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Obscenity and Indecency Complaints Concerning Broadcast Media

Pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding between the
Federal Communications Commission and the Department of Justice
concerning cases involving obscenity and indecency, such matters
are referred between the two agencies for investigation and
processing according to the rules, policies, and procedures of
each agency. Recent examples of such matters follow:

o A settlement agreement with Infinity Broadcasting
Corporation was entered into on September 1, 1995. The
settlement, which concluded several pending indecency
enforcement proceedings involving the Howard Stern Show,
resulted in a voluntary contribution by Infinity to the
United States Treasury in the amount of $1,715,000, the
largest amount ever contributed by a broadcast station
licensee. Additionally, Infinity is required to issue a
policy statement to on—air personnel educating them as to
what constitutes broadcast indecency. — —

o Notice of apparent liability was issued to Evergreen Media
Corporation of Chicago, licensee of radio broadcast station
WLUP (AM) , for airing material in violation of the obscenity
statutes, and recommended a forfeiture of $6,000. Evergreen
disputed the forfeiture, and a civil suit was filed in the
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division. In 1994,
an Agreement for Settlement and Dismissal with Prejudice was
entered into by the parties, providing, in part, that the
FCC would publish industry guidance interpreting 18 U.S.C.
§ 1464 and detailing its enforcement policies with respect
to broadcast indecency so that Evergreen could educate cn-
air personnel as to what constitutes broadcast indecency.

4. child Support

Since December 1994, the Section has also been charged Lth
oversight responsibility of the enforcement of the Child Support
Recovery Act of 1992 (CSRA) . This statute makes the willful
failure to pay child support a federal crime if the non—custcdial
parent lives in a different state from his or her child and has a
past due child support obligation which has remained unpaid for
more than one year, or is greater than $5,000 in amount.

The Department of Justice, through CEOS, began an
“Initiative” with the Department of Health and Human Services.
Office of Child Support Enforcement (OCSE) to establish and
strengthen channels of communication between state agencies and
USAOs concerning prosecutions under the CSRA. The initiative set
forth procedures for referring cases to the USAOs for
prosecution. As a result of this effort, 747 cases have been
referred to various USAOs for review for potential prosecution
under the Act.
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On April 20, 1995, a new “Joint Project” between OCSE and -

CEOS for referral of new cases to the USAOs was established. The
project requests each local IV—D office to submit five cases
deemed suitable for prosecution to OCSE. Once these cases have
been submitted to OCSE, preliminary viability for prosecution
will be established. After review by CEOS, those cases believed
to have prosecutive merit will be forwarded to the USAO’s for
further action.

Activities and Accomplishments —— Child Support

* providing legal advice and research to IV-D agents, HHS, and
AUSAs

* serving as liaison between federal and state agencies

* providing training to prosecutors and law enforcement

* reviewing referrals for prosecution under the Act

* establishing tracking system for cases pending throughout the

country

* responding to telephone calls from citizens seeking assistance

Examples of Child Support Cases Prosecuted by CEOS

0 On July 13, 1995, Lawrence Sargus entered a guilty plea to
having willfully failed to pay his child support obligation
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 228.
He was sentenced on August 7, 1995, to a six month term of
incarceration which will remain suspended provided the
defendant pays past due child support in the amount
$16,412.00, maintains current support obligations until his
youngest child reaches the age of eighteen, and performs
fifty hours of community service.

other Activities

0 On August 22, 1995, a CEOS attorney spoke on the topic of
CSRA enforcement at the National Child Support Enforcement
Association conference in Kansas City, Missouri.

0 On July 10, 1995, a CEOS attorney spoke at a child support
conference sponsored by the Department of Health and Human
Services in Washington, D.C. on the topic of Innovations in
Enforcement.

0 On June 12, 1995, a CEOS attorney spoke on the topic of
federal criminal nonsupport at a Child Support Conference in.
New York.


